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Prologue

TOMBSTONE THAT MORNING

Virgil Earp was determined to sleep in on Wednesday, October 26, 1881. The Tombstone police chief tumbled into bed around 6 A.M. after participating in an all-night poker game at the Occidental Saloon. Among others, he’d played against Johnny Behan, the county sheriff, and local ranchers Ike Clanton and Tom McLaury. Before sitting down to play cards, Clanton had spent much of the night threatening the chief’s brother Wyatt and Wyatt’s gambler pal, Doc Holliday. At one point he and Holliday had to be separated. Holliday eventually headed home to his room in a boardinghouse, but Clanton kept drinking and getting more worked up.

As chief of police, even off-duty and playing in a card game, Virgil Earp always remained alert to possible trouble. But empty threats were common in Western saloons. Men had a few drinks too many, promised to commit mayhem on somebody else, and forgot all about it the next day when they sobered up. Ike Clanton had a reputation in Tombstone as a loudmouth who fired off hot air, not hot lead. Virgil didn’t take him too seriously. When the marathon poker game finally concluded—afterward, nobody seemed to remember who won or lost, so no huge sums could have changed hands— Clanton swore again to Virgil that he was going to get his guns and then settle things with Holliday the next time he saw him. He added that it seemed Virgil was part of a group conspiring against him. The Earps and Doc Holliday, Clanton warned, had better get ready to fight. The police chief replied that he was going to get some sleep, Ike should do the same, and he better not cause any problems while Virgil was in bed.

Dawn on that Wednesday morning broke bitterly cold in southeastern Arizona Territory, so it was a good time to stay warm under the covers. A storm was on the way; Thursday would bring sleet and snow. Extremes in weather had been common all year in the region. The blazing heat of summer was a given, but April through early July had been the hottest and driest in memory. When rain finally did come in July and intermittently thereafter, it frequently arrived as a deluge. Just weeks earlier, much of sprawling Cochise County—roughly the size of the states of Connecticut and Rhode Island combined—had been drenched. The desert soil, baked rock-hard by the sun under a coating of sand, didn’t absorb moisture well, and roads throughout the county flooded. Now biting winds whipped down from the north, causing the temperature to plummet. It was not a comfortable morning to be outdoors.

Yet as Virgil Earp fell asleep, the main streets of Tombstone still bustled with people. It was always that way, every hour of every day. Tombstone was a mining town, built over a warren of underground tunnels and surrounded by a bristling ring of hoists, smelters, and other structures manned nonstop in a frenzied communal effort to wring as much profit from the earth as possible. The mines operated in shifts, never closing, so neither did many of the town’s dazzling array of shops, restaurants, and saloons. Weather, like the time of day, made no difference. Broiling, freezing, day, night, Tombstone pulsated with frantic energy. In some form or another, everyone there was on the make.

For the better part of twenty years, Virgil Earp and his brothers, James, Wyatt, and Morgan, had roamed the American frontier, trying to make the great fortune and secure the leading places in a community that their family had coveted, and failed to achieve, for generations. Tombstone, they hoped, was where their dreams would finally come true. Virgil was police chief and a United States deputy marshal, James had a “sampling room” saloon, Wyatt and Morgan sometimes worked for Wells Fargo, and all four brothers owned shares of mine property in and around town. Wyatt had hopes of being elected county sheriff in another year, a job with the potential to pay him as much as $40,000 a year—the kind of wealth that might gain the Earps admittance to Tombstone’s highest social circles. Finally, they would be somebody.

Tombstone was a place where such things could happen. Thirty miles from the Mexican border, seventy miles from Tucson, the town was well known throughout the country, mentioned frequently in the business sections of major newspapers from New York City to San Francisco. Its silver mines were said to be the richest since the legendary Comstock Lode was discovered in Nevada Territory in 1859. Legitimate investors, less savory speculators, prospectors in search of strikes that would make their fortunes, and experienced miners looking for work constantly flooded into town, along with those hopeful of siphoning off some of the rumored riches into their own pockets—lawyers, merchants, gamblers, saloonkeepers, prostitutes. In that way, Tombstone was typical of any mining boomtown.

Yet it was also unique. By design as much as by accident, Tombstone was a cultural contradiction, one where the usual mining camp demimonde delights of fixed card games, brothels, and cheap rotgut coexisted amicably with swank hotels and restaurants, world-class stage entertainment, and pricey blended whiskies of the sort sipped in the finest East Coast metropolitan watering holes. Civic leaders were about to debate the advisability of installing sewer lines, and telephones linked the major mines and the busy Mining Exchange Building, as well as a few of Tombstone’s glitziest hotels. The town was an addictive hybrid of elegance and decadence, a place soon to be described in one prominent travel magazine as “a spasm of modernism.” Tombstone deserved the description. In many ways the town was the logical culmination of what, in just over a century, the American West had come to represent: Limitless opportunities for any man to achieve any ambition, no matter how lofty or unlikely. On this chilly morning, there was no other place like Tombstone in all of Arizona Territory, or in much of America.

Thanks to stringent ordinances prohibiting guns to be carried within city limits, Tombstone was mostly a safe place, too. It was inevitable, in any community with so many saloons patronized by prideful, hard-drinking men, that alcohol-fueled testosterone overflow periodically resulted in fist-fights or drunken attempts at gunplay. More often, bellowed threats like Ike Clanton’s against the Earps and Doc Holliday were never carried out. The efficient town police force sent prospective combatants home to sleep it off, or else locked them up for the night and took them to court to be fined the next morning for disturbing the peace. As the sun rose on October 26, the vast majority of Tombstone residents had never witnessed, much less participated in, physical violence or gunplay within town limits. Billy Breakenridge, who served several years as a Cochise County deputy sheriff, later claimed that “I never heard of a house [in Tombstone] being robbed, or anyone being held up in the city, and it was perfectly safe for any lady or gentleman to pass along the streets, day or night, without being molested.” The most substantive proof came in August 1881, when Chief Earp informed the city council that things were so quiet, the town police force could be reduced to three men—himself and two officers, though he reserved the right to appoint civilians as “special deputies” if necessary. (When he testified in a trial in Tucson in mid-October, Chief Earp named his brothers Wyatt and Morgan to serve as special deputies while he was away.) In town, Virgil Earp had a well-deserved reputation as an impartial enforcer of the law; during the broiling heat of summer 1881, he even arrested Wyatt for disturbing the peace and fighting. Wyatt had to pay a $20 fine.

But there was ongoing concern among town leaders about a group they believed not only threatened local tranquillity, but Tombstone’s future prosperity. In the surrounding area, particularly in the smaller settlements of San Simon, Charleston, and Galeyville, a loosely knit band of desperadoes collectively known as “cowboys” engaged in raucous lifestyles that frequently crossed over into lawbreaking. The cowboys rustled openly; because of beef shortages in Cochise County, butchers and consumers didn’t much care where cattle were purloined, so long as the majority of them were stolen from Mexican rather than American herds. In exchange for a cut of the profits, small ranchers in the area such as the Clantons and McLaurys gladly grazed the rustled stock on their property until it was fattened enough for sale. The cowboys were also suspected—it was never proven—of attacking Mexican pack trains bringing goods across the border to trade, and of raiding Mexican settlements in much the same manner as renegade Apaches. International tension resulted. Members of President Chester A. Arthur’s cabinet were consulting with territorial officials about it.

Clashing opinions about the cowboys ramped up an already bitter political feud in Cochise County and Tombstone, the county seat. The town’s rival newspapers were engaged in all-out editorial war. The Nugget was unabashedly Democrat in its leanings, favoring minimal government intervention in territorial and local issues, and claiming that “cowboy depredations” were grossly exaggerated by area leaders who wanted to enrich themselves at the expense of individual freedoms. The Republican Epitaph took the opposite view: The cowboys were menaces not only to local safety, but to Tombstone’s reputation. There had been several area stage robberies in the last seven months, surely carried out by cowboys. The Epitaph demanded federal intervention, currently forbidden by congressional edict; meanwhile, John Clum, the newspaper’s publisher and mayor of Tombstone, joined other civic leaders to form the Tombstone Citizens Safety Committee, ready when needed to mete out swift vigilante justice. In an August 1881 editorial, Clum wrote, “When the civil authorities are insufficient or unwilling to protect a community, the people are justified in taking the law into their own hands and ridding themselves of the dangerous characters who make murder and robbery their business.” It was a slap at county sheriff Behan, who rarely arrested cowboys and occasionally managed to let them escape jail when he did, and an equally blunt warning to Tombstone police chief Earp: If he ever failed to keep the cowboys under control while they were in town, his bosses would do it for him.

The last thing Virgil Earp wanted was armed, trigger-happy civilians stalking cowboys on Tombstone’s streets. It took the judgment of an experienced lawman like the town police chief to know when to act decisively, and when to let situations fizzle out of their own accord. Ike Clanton’s babbled threats to “fix” Doc Holliday and the police chief and his brothers were good examples. Virgil could have arrested him, but guessed that Ike would cool down. As the sun came up on Tombstone that Wednesday, Clanton was probably snoring in a drunken stupor in a town hotel. When Ike woke up with a hellacious hangover, he’d stumble back to his ranch. It was nothing to lose sleep over, and Virgil didn’t intend to.

But around nine in the morning, policeman A. G. Bronk roused Virgil after just a few hours of slumber to tell him that Ike Clanton was staggering around town, now armed and still drunk, threatening to kill all the Earp brothers and their friend Doc Holliday on sight. The chief told Bronk not to worry about it, then rolled over and went back to sleep.

About six hours after that, three men died, with a fourth soon to be assassinated and a fifth crippled for life. Yet the impact of the bloody events in and just outside a cramped Tombstone vacant lot extended far beyond the fates of the eight men directly involved. What has come to be called “The Gunfight at the O.K. Corral” became a pivotal moment in American annals because misunderstandings, exaggerations, and outright lies about it provided impetus for future generations to form a skewed, one-dimensional view of frontier history. In fact, it represented an unintentional, if inevitable, clash between evolving social, political, and economic forces, though the Earps and the Clantons and the McLaurys and Doc Holliday had no notion of that when they began pulling triggers. The real story of Tombstone, and of the American West, is far more complex than a cartoonish confrontation between good guys and bad guys. Much of the subsequent misinterpretation can be directly traced back to that critical moment on a freezing October morning in 1881 when sleepy, well-meaning Virgil Earp guessed wrong.



Chapter One

THE WEST

If it had been up to Daniel Boone, America’s frontier expansion would have begun with the creation of a new state named Transylvania.

In 1775, not long before the first shots of the Revolutionary War, Boone led a small expedition through the Cumberland Gap in the Alleghenies, entering what would eventually become the state of Kentucky. At the time, it was the western flank of the vast British colony called Virginia. Boone had already made several trips to the region since the late 1760s. Now he came as an investor rather than an explorer. Boone worked for the Transylvania Company, a business venture intended by colonial entrepreneur Richard Henderson to enrich himself and his partners by anticipating westward migration and the demand for land there. Boone staked out a site, founded a settlement he immodestly named Boonesborough, and joined Henderson in selling lots to other pioneers. The partners then proposed Boonesborough as the county seat of a colony called Transylvania, but Britain turned them down. After the war, the undaunted duo applied to the Continental Congress to recognize Transylvania as a state. They were rebuffed again; there was some question whether Henderson, Boone, and their partners owned the land at all. They claimed they’d acquired it in an agreement with the Cherokee Indians, but other tribes disputed the legitimacy of Cherokee ownership. Like the state of Transylvania, Boonesborough didn’t work out as planned. By the end of the eighteenth century it was a virtual ghost town. Boone himself was gone twenty years before that, moving further west in hopes of acquiring the right land that would make him rich and influential. He was among the first Americans with that goal, and, for a while, Boone remained the exception rather than the rule.

In the early years of the new nation, the public perception and the reality of the West were the same. People of limited means yearned to own land, the West was where they could, and that was all there was to it. Most Americans were farmers, or wanted to be if they could acquire sufficient property. Within the settled regions of the original thirteen states, that was a problem. The most desirable farmland was spoken for; much of it was tied up in large private estates. Particularly along the more heavily settled eastern seaboard of the newly minted United States, land was at a premium. The geographic alternatives for landless Americans were limited. To the north, menacing Britain guarded the border of Canada. To the south, the equally powerful Spanish controlled Florida. The only available direction for expansion was westward, beyond the Allegheny Mountains that formed the spines of Pennsylvania, Virginia, and Maryland. Everyone knew there were great sprawling expanses in that direction, and, for those willing to endure hard work and danger it was possible to acquire land of their own and make their living from it. Few hoped for anything more than a subsistence existence, growing enough crops and bagging enough wild game to feed their families and survive in minimal comfort, not luxury. For the earliest frontier settlers, that was enough. While Daniel Boone’s namesake town didn’t win over many of his fellow pioneers, the trail he blazed into the Western wilderness did. The Cumberland Gap became a popular route in America’s expansion to the west.

Congress did what it could to encourage Western settlement. Its goal, until 1890 when the government declared that there was no more American frontier left to settle, was to get as much public land into private hands as possible. The Northwest Ordinance of 1787 declared that the federal government would oversee territorial legislatures—a grandiose concept, since America had yet to acquire any new land to be designated as a national territory. But the fledgling nation was clearly going to expand, and, when it did, rules had to be in place for how much autonomy settlers would have. The basic answer was: Not much. Whenever five thousand eligible voters were present (meaning adult white males), territories could elect assemblies—but the U.S. Congress could veto any laws passed by these assemblies, and territorial governors and judges would be appointed by the national government. Only when a territory’s population reached sixty thousand could it petition Congress to become a state. Until then, any territory was essentially a vassal colony, useful to the United States for the space it would add and the contributions it might make to the national economy.

The obvious priority was finding territory to acquire, and America soon butted up against a formidable obstacle to westward expansion. Spain controlled the mouth of the Mississippi River, whose north–south route was critical to American commerce. In 1802, Spain shut down New Orleans to U.S. shipping. President Thomas Jefferson tried to acquire New Orleans and part of Florida from the Spanish, but they ceded their vast “Louisiana” holdings (which extended well up through the continental heartland to the southern border of Canada) to France instead. Here, America stumbled into luck. Napoleon’s main concerns were extending his power in Europe and putting down a slave insurrection in France’s colony of Haiti. Jefferson acquired the vast Louisiana Territory for $15 million; it added more than 800,000 square miles to the United States, immediately doubling the size of the country. Now there was ample land for the early waves of American settlers. The problem was, no one could be sure just how much. The boundaries between Louisiana and Spanish holdings in the Southwest weren’t clear. The Lewis and Clark Expedition had angled northwest to the Pacific coast. Many settlers simply set out in a westward direction, hoping for the best.

These early pioneers were obliged to cooperate rather than compete. Personality conflicts had to be overlooked for the greater good. Everyone had the same goal. They wanted their own land—and welcomed neighbors with the same ambition. The failure of one endangered the chances of the rest. Few farmed exclusively; they had to contribute to the community beyond that. One might have a knack for basic blacksmithing. Another could build and operate a small gristmill. Few of the settlers had much money, or thought that they ever would.

But as American settlement of the West expanded so did the ambitions of some pioneers. Much of the exploring and settling could now be done by boat—with the Louisiana Purchase, America commanded two mighty rivers, the Mississippi and the Missouri. The rivers made it easier to travel, and to ship manufactured goods from east to west, and raw materials from west to east. There had been fur traders in North America since European and British settlers originally reached its shores. They hunted animals with limited success and acquired most of their pelts from Indian tribes. The French dominated the fur trade in mid-continent. In the early 1800s after the Louisiana Purchase, Americans were anxious to do the same. Animal furs brought good prices in East Coast markets, where they could be turned into hats and coat collars and lap robes. The first American “mountain men” made their way west, in the process bringing beaver and sea otter to the brink of extinction in some regions. Westward expansion often destroyed aspects of the wilderness in the process of settling it.

Some of the mountain men blazed new trails, always moving farther west. Jim Bridger was among the first white men to reach the Great Salt Lake. John Colter, who initially came west with Lewis and Clark, described geysers to disbelieving listeners. Kit Carson ranged all the way to what would become California. These mountain men were also businessmen, glad to live wild and free but devoted to making all the money they could while doing it. The process involved competition—most mountain men were affiliated with rival fur trading companies. Each had his preferred hunting grounds and Indian trading partners, and wanted to keep them for himself. Too much cooperation hurt potential profit.

Settlers now coming west to farm were aware of the new financial possibilities. One, with a clear lust for wealth, wrote that he was trying hard “to get the land subdued and the wilde nature out of it. When that is accomplished we can raise our crops to a very large amount and the high prices of everything raised heare will make the cultivation of the soil a very profitable business.” Subsistence farming was no longer the main goal for some of these frontier landowners; capitalism—making more money than would have been possible back east—became primary.

The mountain men also initiated another significant change among those migrating west. Families made the trek to farm; a man needed his wife and children to help tend crops and animals. Mountain men had a clear gender distinction; when they wanted the company of women, they usually took them from native tribes. During the early years of westward expansion, the ratio of men to women was almost 50-50. Soon, it was a lopsided 80-20.

As more communities were built, overland east–west trade routes were required. Settlers needed manufactured goods; markets back in the East needed raw materials. There were no train lines available in the new territory, and rivers didn’t reach everywhere, so wagon routes were established to haul goods across rugged terrain. There was the risk of Indian attack, and because some of the wagons rolled along trails close to disputed borders between the U.S. territories and Mexico, international tension developed.

Back east, westward expansion began contributing more than raw goods and space for pioneers to roam. For any nation, an entertaining mix of actual history and exaggeration provides inspiration to its citizens in the form of folklore—British poet Samuel Taylor Coleridge perfectly described the process as “the willing suspension of disbelief.” America had no centuries of history to fall back on, but the Western frontier came to be seen as a magical, near-mythical place. Colorful tales of the West, both fiction and highly exaggerated “fact,” began appearing in print and onstage to thrill readers and audiences. In 1823, James Fenimore Cooper published The Pioneers, the first of five “Leatherstocking Tales” featuring the adventures of fictional woodsman Natty Bumppo. Though The Last of the Mohicans (possibly based on the real-life abduction by Indians of Daniel Boone’s daughter) would prove the most lasting installment in terms of popularity, The Pioneers depicted the lives of settlers in a Western frontier outpost, and the American public lapped it up. In 1831, James Kirke Paulding’s play The Lion of the West, or, A Trip to Washington was a smash hit. It was obviously about the real-life David Crockett, a backwoodsman elected to Congress in 1827. Two years later, an unknown author (possibly James Strange French) produced a follow-up “biography,” Life and Adventures of Colonel David Crockett of West Tennessee. Crockett, no fool regarding the potential political advantages of his newfound fame, wrote an autobiography, A Narrative of the Life of David Crockett, which he promoted incessantly. It sold between five thousand and ten thousand copies, a huge number for the time. Many, Crockett included, thought he might ride the crest of celebrity all the way into the White House, but he became embroiled in political wrangles with President Andrew Jackson and soon lost even his seat in Congress. He went to Texas, and laid claim to a permanent place in American history at the Alamo. But the books about him cemented the belief in Americans that the West was a fabulous place, one with unlimited possibilities for adventure, profit, and even fame. To many readers, Natty Bumppo became every bit as real as George Washington, and it was fun to imagine that David Crockett just might be, as he himself roguishly suggested in print, half-horse and half-alligator, with a little touch of snapping turtle. It was no more far-fetched than the general public back in England daydreaming about joining King Arthur and his Knights of the Round Table on a quest for the Holy Grail. Besides, unlike mythical Camelot, the Western frontier was actually there—anyone with enough gumption could go and, apparently, prosper.

This growing American belief was captured in print for the world in 1835, when young French aristocrat Alexis de Tocqueville published the first volume of his classic Democracy in America. Sent by France to study the U.S. political system and, especially, its penal institutions, Tocqueville observed that in America “millions of men are all marching together toward the same point on the horizon; their languages, religions and mores are different, but they have one common aim. They have been told that fortune is to be found somewhere toward the west, and they hasten to seek it.”

As decades passed, the American definition of “West” and “frontier” continually evolved. More vast chunks of land were added to the U.S. territories—the Louisiana Purchase was followed by the acquisition of Texas as a state, then the Oregon Territory, then the Mexican Cession of the 1840s. It would culminate with the Gadsden Purchase, which was ratified by Congress in 1854. It seemed, for a long time, as though the sprawl of Western land waiting to be settled was limitless. The vastness of the frontier soon lent itself to another reason to move there—it was possible for anyone to leave behind an old identity. A popular territorial folksong inquired, “What was your name in the states?” Men facing criminal charges could and often did easily lose themselves in the territories, where sheer size of jurisdictions thwarted lawmen.

In the territories, Congress established three-pronged law enforcement. A U.S. marshal, based in a territory’s capital, enforced federal law. He was allowed to hire a few deputies to work in far-flung, but reasonably well-populated, areas. Counties, established by territorial legislatures with the approval of Congress, elected their own sheriffs, who also could hire deputies. The main duty of most county sheriffs was collecting taxes. Towns elected marshals; they enforced local ordinances. In theory, all three branches cooperated. In practice, this didn’t always happen, due to distances involved or poor communication or personal disputes between the lawmen. In worst-case scenarios, such as a brief rebellion in New Mexico when the American governor was assassinated, or in Utah when Mormon militia wiped out a wagon train, the U.S. Army was called in. This marked the beginning of an ambivalent attitude by Westerners toward the federal government. Except in times of physical danger, Westerners generally wanted their government to leave them alone. Laws and taxes represented the kind of impositions that they came west to escape. But they also wanted, and expected, federal arms to protect them from Indians, Mexican raiders, and outlaws that territorial lawmen couldn’t control or track down.

One thing the army didn’t do very often was swoop in to deflect Indian attacks on wagon trains of settlers—there weren’t that many such assaults. Between 1842 and 1859, about thirty thousand Western emigrants died while en route by wagon train, but fewer than four hundred were killed by Indians. The wagon train death rate was 3 percent, compared to the 2.5 percent average among all Americans. Ninety percent of wagon train fatalities came from disease, with cholera the leading cause. As the American territories expanded, in many regions the Indian threat decreased dramatically. There were obvious exceptions—the Sioux in the Midwest and Northwest, the Comanches in Texas, the Apaches in the Southwest. But many tribes were decimated by illnesses carried by white settlers, or else became dependent on white largesse as game grew less plentiful.

To a large extent until the late 1840s, almost all settlers in the evolving West farmed or hunted. That changed dramatically with the discovery of gold in California. Because of its subsequent explosion in population, California was quickly admitted to the union as a state rather than spending decades conditionally accepted as a territory. Would-be prospectors, many of them too inexperienced to understand much about hunting for gold beyond believing wild tales of boulder-sized nuggets lying on the open ground, surged to California cross-country or by ship, an arduous voyage that could take months from the East Coast. Over the next thirty years, mining camps sprang up in what were or would become the U.S. territories of Idaho, Montana, Colorado, Utah, Nevada, Arizona, New Mexico, and South Dakota. Unlike the farmers who initiated westward expansion some sixty or seventy years earlier, prospectors wanted to come into enormous wealth, and just enough did to encourage the belief in countless others that the same thing might happen to them. One of the most attractive aspects about mining over farming was that, for prospectors but not farmers, it was possible to get started without investing much. It cost an estimated $1,000 to purchase the tools and seed necessary to start a farm. A pan and a pick for prospecting cost only a few dollars, and the potential profit was much greater. Finding gold or silver or copper or quartz was the most certain way to escape what one Fortyniner termed “the detested sin of being poor.” Some still came west to escape from the constraints of too civilized Eastern society, from personal mistakes made in the past, or, in the case of the Mormons, from perceived religious persecution. But as gold fever gripped the nation, just as many or more came to strike it rich, through honest labor or, far more often now than previously, chicanery. After the California Gold Rush the West became, in the words of historian Cissy Stewart Lale, “a place for hustlers of all kinds.” Unlike inhabitants of farming communities, prospectors and miners often had some form of personal fortune—gold dust or nuggets if not greenbacks—and any mining town population was soon increased by an influx of con artists offering onesided partnerships, merchants peddling whiskey, gamblers whose decks of cards were likely marked, and prostitutes.

The gallant and the greedy traveled west by wagon, ship, and, increasingly, by rail and stagecoach. The transcontinental railroad didn’t completely link East and West until 1869, but by the 1850s rail lines poked out from the East into the Midwest. Because of the railroads, even more raw products from the West could be shipped east—there were virtually no manufacturing plants on the frontier until advancing technology made it possible to transport prefabricated facilities by rail after the Civil War. In 1858, the Butterfield Stage line established a 2,800-mile route between Memphis and San Francisco, a trip that took twenty-four days with no comfort involved. Often, passengers had to climb out and help pull the stage out of mud, or push it up a particularly steep hill. One passenger wrote, “To enjoy such a trip, a man must be able to endure heat like a salamander, mud and water like a muskrat, dust like a toad and labor like a jackass.” The stages were usually crowded to the point where several passengers had to perch on the roof or rear baggage compartment. But the stages could go where the railroads didn’t. Mineral strikes usually occurred in inconvenient places. Very few settlers made their way to Colorado Territory until 1858, when a gold strike received coverage in the national media; within a year, over 100,000 swarmed in. Nevada Territory was virtually uninhabited until 1859, when the Comstock Lode seized the attention of the world. The name epitomized the new breed of scalawags operating in the West. Canadian fur trader Henry T. P. Comstock acquired much of the massive claim from gullible prospectors Peter O’Riley and Patrick McLaughlin for $40 in cash, a bottle of whiskey, and a blind horse.

The Civil War brought about the next changes in westward expansion. By the conclusion of the internecine struggle, many men emigrating west considered the U.S. government to be an implacable enemy rather than an occasional annoyance. From the early days of American self-rule, residents of Southern states vigorously opposed any form of federal intrusion. In the years leading up to the Civil War, Eastern Republicans, “Yankees,” tried to curb the system of slavery that formed the basis for economic prosperity in the South. Southerners were certain, with good reason, that it was the Yankees’ intent to eradicate slavery completely. Bitter debate and violence resulted over votes and congressional compromises concerning which territories would be “slave” or “free.” At war’s end, the Reconstruction era in the South further embittered those living there. Prior to the Civil War, most emigrants to the West came from the North and East. Jobs were scarcer there than in the South. But in the immediate postwar years, young white Southerners, many of them Confederate veterans, wanted nothing more than to escape what they considered to be the intolerable insult of Yankee occupation. These Southerners became Democrats, sworn to hate and actively oppose anything to do with Republicans. As they began making their way west to the territories, they carried their resentment with them.

The arrival of this Southern influx created new tensions in territorial politics. The federal government had always exercised ultimate authority in the territories. It did not escape the notice of arriving Southerners that the men making rules for the frontier were the same Republicans who were overseeing the despised Reconstruction. The Southerners had come west to avoid heavy-handed Yankee authority, not submit to more of it. Their resentment embraced not only the federal government, but anyone in the territories—lawmen, rich investors, rank-and-file emigrants like themselves—they believed represented hated Republican influence. Essentially, the Southerners now coming west wanted to retain their old social values. Northern arrivals, especially investors, focused on modernization and profits. There was no middle ground.

Western products as well as politics changed after the war. Previously, arrivals in the territories mostly farmed or mined. But as the railroad stretched into Kansas, admitted to the Union as a state in 1861, there was a new source of apparently abundant raw material. When emigrants moved into the Midwest plains, they were greeted by huge herds of buffalo. Back east, tanned buffalo hides could be converted into blankets and other products. Buffalo hunting was initially seasonal work—the animals’ hides were thickest in the fall and winter. But in the 1860s, manufacturers in the East began using buffalo pelts for industrial applications like machinery belts. The hides became critical to industry. With increased demand came a flood of hunters who worked year-round; the money they could make was irresistible—the average buffalo hide sold for about $3.70 or 15 cents a pound, and a man with accurate aim could take down as many as eighty buffalo on a good day.

Thanks to magazines and dime novels, buffalo hunters became exalted in the East. “Buffalo Bill” Cody, first celebrated in a highly exaggerated Street and Smith’s New York Weekly story by the writer Edward Judson (using the nom de plume “Ned Buntline”), capitalized on his newfound celebrity by portraying himself in stage plays, then founding a Wild West Show that toured nationally and in Europe for decades to come. Tourists from as far away as Britain began signing up for buffalo hunting excursions. They’d arrive by train, hire a veteran hunter and his crew as guides, and happily blast away. Not surprisingly, by the late 1860s the once innumerable buffalo were already on the way to extinction.

Their decimation threatened more than the buffalo themselves. Towns dependent on Eastern manufacturers’ demand for hides had sprung up throughout the Midwest. Without the hunters bringing in their hairy hauls— and spending money while they were there—these towns were in imminent danger of drying up. Many of them were just a few rickety shacks, but some were more than that, with restaurants and laundries and general stores. Then salvation came in the form of other horned animals, the next wave of Western industry.

Texas teemed with longhorn cattle in herds that proliferated while the Civil War shut down traditional markets along the Mississippi. These longhorns weren’t the choicest beef on the hoof; they often weighed less than a thousand pounds, much of it bone and gristle besides lean, stringy meat. But longhorns could travel well on very little forage and water. Back east, the demand for beef was incessant. Processing plants were in the East, too. To exploit demand, the cattle needed to be driven north from Texas to towns where railroads connected to the great Eastern cities. Texas had the huge herds required, Kansas had the railroad towns, and in 1866 the first great Texas trail drives to Kansas began. There was an immediate complication. The Texas longhorns brought with them microscopic ticks; the longhorns were immune to the disease—commonly known as Texas tick fever—carried by these mites, but it killed any Midwest cattle that it infected. The Kansas legislature mandated that Texas herds must be driven into the state on the west side of an ever-evolving “tick line.” Abilene was the first major railroad town to receive the majority of the herds, then Wichita, then Dodge City. In each instance, the lucky town enjoyed an immediate, massive boost to its economy. Every Kansas railroad community wanted the Texas cattle drives to terminate within its city limits. Competition between the towns was cutthroat. Some sent representatives south to meet the herds on their way north, and they would tout their towns as offering the finest whiskey, tastiest foods, best card games, and most willing women.

Such amenities were prized by the Texans. Herding cattle was a chore involving hard physical labor and near-intolerable boredom. For weeks, drovers spent endless hours on horseback, swallowing dust as they struggled to keep thousands of cattle moving in the same direction, and at night they slept wrapped in thin blankets on hard ground. Food on the trail was basic, often nothing more than beans and bread. Working on a cattle drive proved too tough for America’s preeminent frontier hero. When Buffalo Bill Cody invested in a Texas cattle herd, he decided to ride up to Kansas as part of the crew, probably hoping for adventures to incorporate into his Wild West Shows. Instead, he quit along the way, observing, “There is nothing but hard work on these round-ups. [I could not] possibly find out where the fun came in.” That’s because there wasn’t any until the job was over. When the Texans finally arrived in a Kansas town, turned over their cattle, and received their wages, they were eager to enjoy their first real pleasures since leaving home. That was good for the towns, and bad for their lawmen.

The goal of the cow towns was to separate newly arrived Texans from their hard-earned money as soon as possible, and, when they were broke, to see them quickly on their way back home. The drovers might want new clothes, baths, even a visit to church, but their most immediate concerns were getting drunk, gambling, and having sex. The towns had ample saloons and prostitutes available for those purposes, but these were almost always confined to certain blocks. Saloon owners and brothel keepers paid monthly fees to town governments for the privilege of operating. These might range from $35–$50 for liquor licenses to a few dollars for each prostitute working out of a specific bordello. The money was collected by the town police, and some of it was used to pay their salaries. Respectable residents kept their distance. In theory, the Texans would arrive, get paid, spend what they had, and clear out within a few days so there would be room for the next batch to come in and do the same. In practice, it often didn’t work out peaceably.

The drovers were a boisterous lot, given to shooting off their guns in celebration if not in anger. Texans in cow towns drank, caroused, and fought— county and town lawmen were in the difficult position of enforcing the law without alienating the lawbreakers. If word spread that Texans having fun ended most of their nights in a Kansas town’s jail, then the cattle drives might stop coming there. And, sometimes, blowing off steam escalated into outright violence. In the history of western expansion, there were very few face-to-face gunfights, men calling each other out to see who could draw faster on Main Street while everyone else ducked behind available cover to watch. Instead, shots were either fired in moments of spontaneous, drunken fury or else from ambush. Pistols were notoriously inaccurate. Until the 1890s, they were shipped from factories “sighted in” up to a range of twenty-five yards. Any distance beyond that was problematic. Holsters were mostly used out on the trail. In town, pistols were jammed into waistbands or coat pockets—a non-lawman wearing a gunbelt was such a unique sight that he would cause comment. To curb potential gunplay, officials in most major cow towns—and mining communities, too—passed laws that prohibited carrying guns inside city limits. Outside of town, everyone was responsible for protecting himself. But every cow town had its violent incidents until the cowboys and cattle drives stopped showing up.

The cattle boom petered out as railroads spread into the Southwest, making it unnecessary to drive longhorns hundreds of miles north to Kansas to be sold and shipped. Packs of young Texas drovers no longer arrived in Kansas ready to celebrate after monastic weeks on the trail. And even in the headiest years, most ambitious men who came west to Kansas and settled in the cow towns usually didn’t stay. The only people getting rich from cattle drives were the owners of the herds, the brokers who bought and sold the longhorns, and the cow town businessmen who reaped profits from saloons and restaurants. Drifters who wanted to make a fortune for themselves, to become somebody of considerable substance, had to look farther west to where there were fewer limits to what they might achieve. Almost inevitably, that now meant prospecting. The odds weren’t great, but the potential was there. Anyone willing to invest the physical effort stood a chance of making a big strike. Most mining boomtowns remained primitive and, if only small amounts of ore were discovered in the vicinity, disappeared within a few years. Many were far removed from the creature comforts of civilization. There were occasional exceptions; Virginia City in Nevada Territory eventually boasted fancy restaurants, saloons, and hotels. But prospectors generally lived in filth, spent most days engaged in hard labor—breaking rock with a pick made herding cows seem easy—and ended up with little to show for their efforts. If they had no luck in one place, they’d move on to another. Tensions ran even higher in mining camps than in cow towns. Each prospector was competing against all the others. The men there had it tough.

But it was worse—much worse—for women in mining camps or anywhere else in the West. A man all by himself in the territories was still respectable; most women on their own were prostitutes. For them, life’s choices were reduced to a single goal: Attach themselves to men and get out of the business, or soon grow old and sick and die. In the few fancy territorial towns like Virginia City, some bordellos were high-class, with attractive young females available for high dollar prices, and bouncers on hand to forcibly remove any customer who misbehaved. But in most camps, weary women turned tricks in shabby cribs and regularly endured violence at the hands of their clients. Many turned to drugs. Morphine and laudanum were the most popular. A sense of desperation was pervasive—the suicide rate among frontier prostitutes was always high. Their one advantage was that, in the Western territories, women were so scarce as to almost always have some value no matter how battered they might be. Men who wanted sex on a regular, unpaid basis, and who yearned for someone to wash their clothes, clean their shacks, cook their meals, and perhaps bear their children did not have a wide selection from which to choose. Not all the available women in the West were practicing prostitutes, but many were. And men looking for wives in the territories were not always great bargains themselves.

The results, often, were partnerships rather than love matches. Few couples were joined formally in any religious or legal ceremony; among people of limited means, common-law marriages were the rule. The woman involved might take the man’s last name, and sign herself “Mrs.” She had some stability and safety, unless or until her husband tired of her. Then he could break off the relationship without any legal complications. Courts would never rule in favor of an abandoned common-law wife. Ultimately, the advantage was with the man.

While a man and woman lived together as common-law husband and wife, no one questioned their standing as a couple. But in territorial towns of any consequence, there would always be a small, select upper class of investors and merchants, and these men often did bring wives with them, women who were married in every legal sense. Formally married women might associate in a reasonably friendly fashion with common-law wives, chatting with them on the streets or in shops or in church, but they would rarely invite them into their homes. Men in the West, no matter what their backgrounds, could always aspire to a higher place in society. Women were far more limited in rising above whatever they had been.

As the 1870s advanced, new limits were imposed on virtually everyone in the Western territories. Most critically, the American frontier was dramatically shrinking. The middle of America—Kansas, Nebraska, Missouri, Oklahoma—was generally settled. The California Gold Rush had effectively taken westward expansion all the way up and down the Pacific coast—California itself had evolved into a progressive, well-populated state. Mineral riches in the Colorado and Nevada territories were either played out or, at least, staked out. Territory to the north—Wyoming, Montana, Idaho, the Dakotas—had plenty of room and opportunity, but ferocious winters were a problem. Fortune hunting there, especially prospecting and cattle raising, had to be almost seasonal. In Texas, like California a state rather than a territory, landowners with vast holdings precluded most newcomers from making any sort of economic mark. So for many ambitious men in the West, only the territories of New Mexico and Arizona remained—and in those hard, lovely lands, nothing came easily except sweat.

The Desert Land Act of 1877 recognized that farmers and ranchers in the Southwest needed more than 160 acres of land. In arid country such as Arizona and New Mexico, settlers could acquire up to 640 acres of public land for $1.25 an acre in return for the new owners’ agreement to irrigate the property within three years. An initial payment of 25 cents per acre was required immediately, with the other dollar per acre due at the end of the three years. That well-intentioned rule actually limited the options of would-be farmers: It would be practically impossible for anyone to cultivate and sell sufficient crops to pay off the rest of what they owed the government for the land in the time required. Instead, speculators snapped up most of the land made available under the legislation. For only a quarter an acre, they could hang on to the land for three years, hoping a nearby strike would make it vastly increase in value. If that didn’t happen, they would be out only a minimal investment. The still unirrigated land could be returned to the government.

Another tweak in existing law would also have unforeseen consequences. Violence in New Mexico Territory, particularly the Lincoln County War of 1878 between competing businessmen and ranchers, resulted in new jurisdictional limits being imposed on the U.S. Army. For a time, the region was placed under martial law, which resulted in considerable public backlash. Congress then revised the long-standing posse comitatus statute allowing military intervention when marshals and their deputies were unable to enforce the law. Now the army was required to let civilian authorities thrash things out as best they could.

At least in popular belief, what remained unlimited in the remaining Western frontier,  particularly in Arizona and New Mexico territories, was opportunity. Most people came west because they weren’t satisfied with who or where they had been. They might want wealth, social status, or just space in which to do as they pleased with minimal interference from the government. In these last remaining territories, nothing was guaranteed, but anything seemed possible. These were still places men could go to in hopes of becoming. And so they went.



Chapter Two

THE EARPS

From their origins to their dreams of wealth and power to their wandering nearly the entire American frontier in search of ultimate success that always eluded them, perhaps no family epitomized the settling of the West more than the Earps. No matter where they were or what they had, they believed there was something better, if only they could find themselves in the right place and circumstances. It was a philosophy that guaranteed constant frustration; thwarted ambition, as much as anything else, earned three of them their eventual places in frontier history.

The first Earps reached the New World in the early eighteenth century, coming from Ireland by way of England. Earps fought the British in the Revolutionary War, and later followed Daniel Boone’s path across the Alleghenies to settle for a while in Kentucky. Walter Earp, grandfather of the most famous family members, was typical of settlers on the early frontier in that he practiced several professions at once. Walter farmed, taught school, preached, and served as a notary public. He apparently relished being a man of influence. Some neighbors called him “Judge” Earp. The title notwithstanding, Walter was still no better off than other farmers who’d managed, part-time, to creep just a little higher up the social scale. He hadn’t escaped the plow.

In 1845 Walter sold his land in Kentucky and moved to Monmouth, Illinois; several of his grown children moved their families there along with him. This was also typical of the frontier. Any relocation was risky. There was comfort in having relatives with you, people you knew well and trusted. One of the offspring who came to Monmouth with Walter was thirty-two-year-old Nicholas Earp, who inherited his father’s ambition as well as his limited talent for elevating himself. This was an uncomfortable combination for Walter; Nicholas found it intolerable.

Nicholas came to Monmouth as the head of his own sizable family. In 1836, he had married Abigail Storm. She bore him two children—Newton in 1837 and Mariah Ann in 1839. Nicholas’s daughter died that same year, and so did her mother. Men on the frontier didn’t have the luxury of mourning long for lost wives. Eight months later, Nicholas married Virginia Ann Cooksey. She began producing babies, too—James in 1841, Virgil in 1843, and Martha Elizabeth in 1845. Like Mariah, Martha did not survive long.

Nicholas farmed and apparently operated a Monmouth saloon, which would not have required much investment beyond whiskey and glasses. Some researchers believe Nicholas brewed rather than bought the liquor he sold there. Though there seems to be no record of his ever having formally studied law, Nicholas also served as a Monmouth justice of the peace— another “Judge” Earp. Nicholas welcomed any sign of distinction—he was pleased in 1846 when his Monmouth neighbors elected him captain of a group hunt.

That same year, America went to war with Mexico. As soon as Monmouth began organizing a volunteer brigade, Nicholas signed up. He was not placed in command; that honor went to Wyatt Berry Stapp, a local merchant who ranked considerably above Nicholas in the town pecking order. But Stapp appointed Nicholas as third sergeant, a designation that undoubtedly was less than the new noncom hoped—there had to be a first and second sergeant, who also outranked him—but at least rescued Nicholas from the lowly anonymity of private. The Illinois Mounted Volunteers went off to fight in Vera Cruz, and by December 1847 Nicholas was back home, invalided out after being kicked by a mule. Despite that, Nicholas obviously relished his time in the military. When his fourth son was born in March 1848, Nicholas named the boy Wyatt Berry Stapp Earp in honor of his former commander.

When the war concluded in 1848, the U.S. government thanked its veterans with gifts of land. Nicholas was awarded 160 acres in Pella, Iowa. He moved his growing family there—Morgan, Warren, and Adelia were all eventually added to the brood—and ran a harness shop besides working his new property. He must have had some financial success, since he acquired several lots in town and built a two-story home. But Nicholas couldn’t settle for that. Six years later, he returned to Monmouth. This time he augmented his farming income by working as a part-time constable. It was another title that provided a certain limited status. Nicholas also tried to further himself in politics, helping to organize a “Fremont Club” named after well-known explorer John C. Frémont, a prominent member of the newly established Republican Party. Nicholas would clearly have admired Frémont, who earned a national reputation as a charismatic, if controversial, explorer of the West, soldier, and businessman.

Nicholas’s second sojourn in Monmouth lasted only two years. He may have left town after being fined for bootlegging whiskey. If so, Nicholas would have been outraged rather than ashamed. Earps were never known for gracefully acknowledging mistakes. He packed up his wife and children and returned to Pella, where he went back to farming. Middle-aged, still pursuing grand ambitions that remained unfulfilled, Nicholas was by this time an angry man. His usual expression, captured in occasional photographs, was a scowl. Perhaps from frustration, his temper was volcanic. Like most Earps in succeeding generations, his light blue eyes glared rather than observed. Compromise was not part of his makeup, and that trait was inherited by his sons, particularly Wyatt, Morgan, and Warren. All of Nicholas’s boys learned from their father to stand up for their rights, and to maintain fierce self-sufficiency.

The Civil War offered Nicholas’s older male offspring the chance to get out on their own, albeit at the risk of their lives in combat. Predictably, the Earps supported Lincoln and his Republican administration. Newton, James, and Virgil all enlisted in the Union army, and thirteen-year-old Wyatt tried to do the same. Nicholas intervened, and Wyatt reluctantly stayed home. Newton and Virgil served out their full enlistments. James suffered a bad wound to his left shoulder and was mustered out early.

When Virgil enlisted, he left behind a wife. Many Pella residents were part of a tightly knit Dutch community, and Ellen Rysdam’s parents hadn’t been pleased to have their daughter courted by an outsider. So the young couple eloped before Virgil joined the Union army in the summer of 1862. As he and his brothers often demonstrated in years to come, Virgil had a flexible commitment to marriage. His enlistment papers noted he was single. While Virgil was away, and apparently not keeping in touch with his wife, Ellen’s father announced that her husband had been killed in combat. The Rysdams, including supposedly widowed Ellen, then pulled up stakes and moved west to Washington Territory. How much Virgil knew about the subterfuge is unclear, but when he mustered out of the army in 1865 he did not try to find Ellen.

For a while during the war, Nicholas served as deputy U.S. provost marshal for Pella, overseeing enlistments and once again finding himself in a position of limited authority. It had to rankle; now in his early fifties, time was running out for Nicholas to become a man of real substance. In Monmouth and Pella he wasn’t impoverished, but he wasn’t going to do any better in those places than he already had. Fifteen years earlier, gold was discovered in California; men in far worse straits than Nicholas had since made fortunes there. He decided he would go to California, too.

By 1864, wagon trains had been crossing the Western territories for more than twenty years. It was still an arduous trip of two thousand miles or more across all sorts of terrain. Though Indian threats were greatly reduced, the possibility of attack remained. The wagons themselves were uncomfortable to ride in, and everyone involved had to live for five or six months under the most primitive conditions. Nicholas not only accepted danger and discomfort on behalf of his wife and children, he assumed responsibility for all the other families from Pella and the surrounding area who wanted to join the expedition. He was elected wagon master, and took charge of about forty wagons and 150 settlers. They left Council Bluffs, Iowa, on May 12.

For seven months Nicholas was in charge, and by the end of the long journey many of those who’d voted for him as wagon master devoutly wished they hadn’t. Nicholas was a stern leader who expected everyone to do exactly as they were told. When other people’s children didn’t behave to his satisfaction, Nicholas told the parents that if they couldn’t make their youngsters behave, he’d spank the kids himself. No sympathy was extended to those who had trouble keeping up. Nicholas scared them into line, liberally salting his commands with profanity. His methods may have been questionable, but when the wagon train arrived in San Bernardino, California, on December 19, not one member of the party had been lost—this despite the predictable harsh weather in the desert and mountains, and two brushes with Indians. These probably weren’t desperate life-and-death battles, though later in his life Wyatt Earp, sixteen during the journey, described them that way. Wyatt told biographer Stuart Lake that during one confrontation he took the lead in fighting off a whole band of savages intent on appropriating the wagon train’s horses and cattle. But by 1864, a single all-out attack by Indians on a wagon train would have been rare, and it practically defies possibility that the Earp party would have experienced two. It’s more likely that on a couple of occasions a few Indians trailed along after the wagons, hoping to pick off a stray horse or cow, and some of the convoy’s men and teen-aged boys, including Wyatt, chased them away.

Nicholas Earp didn’t come to California to be a prospector. Instead, he acquired some land in San Bernardino and returned to farming, probably waiting to see what other opportunities might emerge. But his father’s decision infuriated Wyatt, who hated everything to do with farming except tending to horses. Nicholas demanded total obedience of every household member. He certainly must have been a difficult father for independent-minded sons to live with. That may have been the reason James Earp dropped off the wagon train in Nevada Territory, where he took up saloonkeeping. (Virgil was still in the Union army.) After arriving in California, Wyatt and his father argued, and, given their short tempers, may have come to blows. The result was that Wyatt, still just sixteen, left home. He didn’t have to go far to find work. Soon Wyatt was employed by a local freight line, probably caring for horses and doing menial jobs. His professional prospects brightened when Virgil, fresh from the army, showed up as a driver for a stage line between San Bernardino and Los Angeles. With help from his big brother, Wyatt caught on with the same company, and when Virgil was hired by another outfit to drive longer routes, including to Prescott in Arizona Territory, Wyatt worked on those, too.

In 1868, when Nicholas decided he wasn’t happy in San Bernardino and moved back to the Midwest, Virgil and Wyatt went some of the way with him. They stopped in Wyoming—James may have gone there, too—and took jobs grading track for the Union Pacific Railroad. The work was hard, and the workers’ camps were rough places where brawls were routine. This was where Wyatt must have learned to fight with his fists; he acquired a measured self-confidence from his ability to defend himself, and, when he became a lawman, was always ready to pound a potential troublemaker into submission. Wyatt was slow to trust anyone. Virgil was less confrontational; instead of punching someone, he’d rather drink with him, or diffuse tension with a joke. But when pushed too far, he was just as tough as Wyatt.

The two Earp brothers stayed in the Northwest for about a year before rejoining their parents in the township of Lamar in southwestern Missouri. Newton Earp moved there, too; with the exceptions of James, probably still in Wyoming or Montana, and Morgan, who’d headed off to Kansas, the whole family was back in one place. Besides farming and running a small combination grocery store and restaurant, Nicholas once again gained local status. He was appointed town constable, but resigned soon afterward to serve as justice of the peace. Even as a newcomer to Lamar, Nicholas must have had political influence, because in November 1869, twenty-one-year-old Wyatt was appointed to replace his father as constable. This was Wyatt’s first chance to wear a badge, and he evidently liked it. A year later the town held formal elections, and Wyatt ran against three opponents, one of them his half-brother, Newton. Wyatt won by twenty-nine votes.

In 1870, justice of the peace Earp presided over Wyatt’s wedding to Aurilla Sutherland, whose family owned and operated the town hotel. The young couple were not together very long. Less than a year after their wedding, Aurilla died, possibly in childbirth or else from typhoid. At some point soon after he became a widower, Wyatt, still town constable, fought in the street with two of Aurilla’s brothers. There’s no evidence about what started the brawl, but it was the beginning of an extended bad patch in Wyatt’s life. A few months later, he bolted from Lamar after being charged with stealing a small sum of public money. Two co-defendants, including Wyatt’s uncle Jonathan, stayed in town to stand trial, and were found not guilty. But Wyatt’s legal problems didn’t end when he left Missouri for Indian territory in Arkansas.

In the spring of 1871, Wyatt Earp, Edward Kennedy, and John Shown were accused of getting William Keys drunk and then stealing two horses from him. Little is known about Kennedy and Shown. All three were arrested and arraigned for trial in Van Buren, Arkansas. The May 9 edition of the Van Buren Press explained what happened next:

On Wednesday, between day light and dark, seven of the prisoners confined in the upper part of the jail made their escape, by prying off the rafters at one corner and then crawling round between the roof to the grate in the back of the building where they removed the stone wall sufficiently to admit egress to the body of a man—when they tied their blankets together and lowered themselves down about 20 feet, to the jail yard, and then dug a hole sufficient to crawl under the fence, which they did and made their escape, without the knowledge of the guard.…. The men that escaped were all desperate characters.

The list of escapees’ names included W. S. Earp.

Not all the Van Buren prisoners participated in the jail break. John Shown, one of Wyatt’s two partners in the alleged horse theft, fled with him, but Ed Kennedy, the other, chose to stay behind. Kennedy stood trial in June, and was acquitted. For the second time, it seemed that Wyatt had run for no reason. The court verdicts in Lamar and Van Buren suggest, though don’t prove, that he had the bad luck to be wrongly accused twice in a row. There’s no mention of these incidents in any of his interviews or his memoir. In Wyatt’s version of his life, in late 1869 he moved from railroad work in the Northwest to hunting on the Midwest plains, first for an army survey team and then on his own stalking buffalo. He also made brief stops in Monmouth, Peoria, and Beardstown, Illinois. Some of that was true. Part of the time Wyatt must have been a buffalo hunter. It was in one of their camps that he met and befriended Bat Masterson. But he didn’t spend all of his time out on the range. For about a year beginning in February 1872, Wyatt did live in and around Peoria and Beardstown in Illinois, where he and his younger brother Morgan worked in bordellos.

Peoria was a bustling town along the Illinois River, exactly the right location for gamblers and prostitutes to ply their shady trades—most men stopping for a night or a few days were on the prowl for excitement. In many frontier towns, bordellos were openly acknowledged as vital to the local economy, and their operators paid city fines to stay in operation. That wasn’t always the case in Peoria. Periodically, the more conservative town residents demanded that such sinful business be curtailed, and police would make a series of arrests. On February 24, 1872, a raid on a well-known brothel run by Jane Haspel netted the Earp brothers. Wyatt and Morgan were fined $20 each, a nominal sum indicating that the cops thought they were customers rather than employees. But in May, they were arrested again, and this time their punishment was more severe. Wyatt and Morgan may have been pimps, luring customers, but it’s more likely that they served as bouncers. The Peoria Daily Transcript noted:

Wyat Earp and his brother Morgan Earp were each fined $44.55 and as they had not the money and would not work, they languish in the cold and silent calaboose.

It was customary for prisoners to work off their fines if they didn’t have the money to pay them; it’s curious that Wyatt and Morgan chose to serve time rather than perform whatever menial tasks they might have been assigned by the court. As much as anything, this indicates that Wyatt may have been in an emotional tailspin after losing Aurilla. If so, he stayed in it a while longer—and then, apparently, he found comfort in the arms of another woman.

On September 7, a police boat on the Illinois River intercepted a vessel that served as a floating casino and bordello. The Peoria Daily National Democrat reported on the seven men and six women taken into custody:

Some of the women are said to be good looking, but all appear to be terribly depraved. John Walton, the skipper of the boat, and Wyatt Earp, the Peoria bummer, were each fined $43.15.…Sarah Earp, alias Sally Heckell, calls herself the wife of Wyatt.

Sally Heckell was probably the teen-aged daughter of bordello operator Jane Haspel—the last names are similar, and frontier newspapers were notoriously inaccurate in their identifications. Jane had a child named Sarah, and probably brought the girl into the family business. In the summer and fall of 1872, Wyatt Earp was twenty-three and certainly not ready to give up women despite the loss of his wife a year earlier. Upper-class men, even on the frontier,  would not have stooped to any kind of an open relationship with a young prostitute, but Wyatt wasn’t in any sense upper-class. Women in the West were scarce. You took what you could get, and since Wyatt was working in brothels it was natural that his possible selections were mostly limited to the women he met there. Some historians theorize that Sally was not in a relationship with Wyatt at all. They might have simply been friends, and after being arrested she claimed to be his wife because wives could not be compelled to testify against their husbands in court. With common-law marriages prevalent on the frontier, Sally would not have been required to produce a marriage license. But based on evidence to come, it’s probable that for a time Sally became Wyatt Earp’s second wife, joined with him by mutual consent rather than a formal ceremony.

Wyatt had been in Peoria long enough to develop a bad reputation. Being described as a “bummer” in the local press had considerable negative connotations. Bummers were worse than tramps; they were men of poor character who were also chronic lawbreakers. Communities were well rid of them when they moved on. Wyatt did, but it’s important to place his problems in Peoria, Van Buren, and Lamar in perspective. Wyatt broke jail in Van Buren and fled from theft charges in Lamar. In Peoria, he not only worked in whorehouses, he kept coming back to the job after being arrested, fined, and even serving a short jail term. But many men on the frontier had youthful brushes with the law. Skimming small sums of public money was almost expected of lawmen and tax collectors in small Western communities. It was an unwritten perk. Horse theft was a serious crime, but rarely to the “string ’em up” extent popularized in dime novels. Though most frontier men didn’t work in bordellos, many of them at least visited. One of the attractions of the West was that it was possible to make mistakes, and, in moving on, move beyond them. Evidence against Wyatt in Lamar and Van Buren was so insubstantial that in both cases co-defendants were acquitted or had charges dismissed. In Peoria, Wyatt happened to be earning his living in brothels when the local police force conducted a series of periodic raids to mollify starchy residents. Had his timing there been different, Wyatt might easily have escaped arrest, or even police notice, altogether. None of the Earps were flawless saints, but they also were not shady characters who lucked into heroic places in Western history. What they did do, Wyatt especially, was exaggerate their accomplishments and completely ignore anything in their past that reflected badly on them. In this, they were typical of men of their time—and men today.

With those events in Peoria, the portion of Wyatt Earp’s life that has been previously lost to history was essentially over. After Peoria he left a trail to follow, much of it based on stories he later told to would-be collaborators John Flood and Stuart Lake. Others, including Bat Masterson, Wyatt’s fourth wife, Josephine, Tombstone mayor John Clum, and Cochise County deputy sheriff Billy Breakenridge, left their own accounts of Wyatt’s doings, all onesided and factually challenged. But working from these materials, and from old newspaper accounts and other documents, we can piece together Wyatt’s movements, if not always his motives. He did hunt buffalo. To do that, he needed to go west from Peoria to the plains of western Kansas. Wyatt also gambled. Where he learned a frontier gambler’s essential skills at cards—calculating the odds, reading the expressions and gestures of other players, hiding an extra ace somewhere handy—isn’t known. Wyatt probably picked up the basics of dealing poker, keno, monte, and faro in the railroad and buffalo hunter camps. After he left Peoria, Sally may have stayed behind for a while; wherever she was, she apparently remained connected to Wyatt, and continued working as a prostitute, based on public records a few years later. Wyatt picked up his own story in the summer of 1873, and the first tale he told would later form the initial basis for the legend of Wyatt Earp, courageous and incorruptible frontier lawman.

Wyatt claimed that in August 1873 he found himself in Ellsworth, Kansas, dealing monte in a local saloon. Ellsworth was in the middle of its brief heyday as a key railroad town in the cattle boom and attracted hard-bitten visitors. Prominent among them that summer were two brothers, Billy and Ben Thompson, native Englishmen who had transplanted themselves to Texas. They made money gambling rather than driving cattle, and, like many frontier card sharps, followed the Texas herds to Kansas towns where the drovers got their end-of-drive pay and eagerly risked it in card games. The Thompsons also had considerable reputations as gunmen. Everyone knew it was dangerous to cross them in any way.

Ellsworth’s marshal, Brocky Jack Norton, and several policemen were charged with keeping the peace. County sheriff Chauncey B. Whitney was also in town. An argument erupted in an Ellsworth saloon where the brothers were playing poker. Whitney intervened, Billy Thompson fired his shotgun, and Whitney was badly wounded. He died soon afterward. Covered by his brother and “100 Texas men,” Billy left town, riding slowly down its main street to demonstrate that nobody was running him off. Ben Thompson and his Texas cronies challenged anyone else to come and fight. Ellsworth mayor Jim Miller ordered Norton to arrest Thompson, but the marshal, with no desire to face near-certain death, refused. Miller then turned and informed bystander Wyatt Earp that he was now the Ellsworth marshal: “Here’s your badge… I order you to arrest Ben Thompson.” Wyatt buckled on two guns, holsters, and a cartridge belt, then went out into the street and calmly instructed Thompson, “Throw your shotgun into the road, put up your hands, and tell your friends to stay out of this play.” Impressed by such courage, the other Texans backed down and Thompson did as he was told. To Wyatt’s disgust, his prisoner was only charged with disturbing the peace and fined $25. (Billy, standing trial four years later for Whitney’s murder, was acquitted.) Mayor Miller asked Wyatt to stay on as marshal, but Wyatt turned him down, saying he’d just seen proof that Ellsworth valued its lawmen’s lives “at twenty-five dollars a head. I don’t figure the town’s my size.” Then Wyatt went back to hunting buffalo. It’s a fine story, but one in which Wyatt greatly exaggerated his role in Ben Thompson’s arrest, if he didn’t make it up completely.

In late-life interviews, Wyatt said he spent the remainder of 1873 hunting buffalo. But that industry was playing out. There was more money to be made in cow towns than in buffalo camps, and frontier hustlers like Wyatt knew it. In the spring of 1874 he turned up in Wichita, Kansas, a community that made itself the focal point of cattle drives through canny marketing. Wichita extolled itself as “the Magic City.” Its magic consisted of making Texans’ money disappear. Salesmen touting Wichita’s charms rode south on the trail routes to meet Texas crews guiding their herds north. Between 1870 and 1874, Wichita’s population exploded from fifty to almost three thousand; a considerable selection of bars and brothels was built across town on the far bank of the Arkansas River. This “sin community” was named Delano Township, and the Texans were funneled there to do their carousing. Wichita police collected licensing fees from Delano’s saloon owners and brothel keepers—bordello operators paid $18 a month for the privilege, plus $2 court costs. Individual prostitutes were charged $8 monthly, plus $2 for the courts. When the women complained their profit margins were being ruined, licenses were reduced to $3 and $2 for individuals and $8 and $2 for their bosses. Saloon fees were $25 a month.

Besides dunning shady businesses in Delano, Wichita police also did their best to keep a tight lid on violence there and on the other side of the Arkansas. Wichita was the first major cow town that posted signs forbidding guns to be carried within city limits. A “shotgun brigade” of residents was on call if the police force needed extra hands. Good judgment was required in all aspects of law enforcement. Wichita wanted its citizens to be safe and its Texas visitors to be happy. Lawmen there and in other Kansas cow towns were under constant pressure to maintain that near-impossible balance. Predictably, many of the officers developed permanent prejudices against Texans.

Wyatt came to Wichita with his brother James. James had just married widow Nellie Catchim. She was usually called Bessie, and had a daughter named Hattie. James tended bar in a Wichita saloon, Wyatt picked up a few dollars playing keno, and Bessie opened a bordello in Delano. She soon ran afoul of local law for failing to pay the required license fee—court records indicate that in June 1874 “Betsey Erp” was dragged into court and fined for “set[ting] up and keep[ing] a bawdy house or brothel.” She wasn’t alone in the dock. “Sallie Erp”—probably Wyatt’s common-law prostitute wife from Peoria—was convicted of the same charges and assessed the same fine. Bessie and Sally apparently recruited several girls for their business. Over the next few months, “Kate Earb,” “Eva Earp,” and “Minnie Earp” were all fined by Wichita courts for conducting unlicensed prostitution. Few prostitutes provided their full legal names to police. It was customary for them to use the last names of their employers. James Earp also came before the courts, and was fined $5 and $2 for unspecified offenses. The Earps seemed to be up to the same unsavory sort of business that Wyatt and Morgan had back in Peoria.

But in Wichita, Wyatt began striving for something more. Playing cards and running whores would never gain him anything more than a minimal living and an ongoing reputation as a bummer. Maybe he had finally worked his way through the loss of Aurilla. Perhaps he was just tired of risking jail. Certainly he still burned, like his father, to be somebody important. In the fall of 1874 he took a first critical step back toward respectability. On October 29, the Wichita Eagle reported that “Wiatt Erp” and Johnny Behrens, identified in the article as “officers,” chased seventy-five miles after a cattle outfit leaving town and collected $146 owed to Wichita merchants by some of its members. It was Wyatt’s first mention in print since Peoria, and this time it was positive. According to the story, Wyatt and Behrens “fear[ed] nothing and fear[ed] nobody.” Wyatt wasn’t an official member of the town police force; he was hired on a temporary basis by the merchants to get them their money.

Wyatt’s timing was perfect. He made his debt-collecting splash just as city leaders decided that violence in town was too endemic, and the police force needed to expand. That concern dated back to May, when Wichita resident Charley Sanders beat two Texans who harassed his wife. The next day, a crowd of their friends returned and shot Sanders while he was up on a ladder painting his house. Texans had well-deserved reputations for that sort of attack; one or two would feel insulted and then a group of them would retaliate, often from ambush. As much as Wichita wanted Texas drovers to bring their money to town, they were determined to discourage that sort of violent mob mentality. In city elections in April 1875, former marshal Mike Meagher defeated incumbent Bill Smith, and, at the urging of the city council, Meagher immediately hired Wyatt and his debt-collecting partner, John Behrens. Meagher probably didn’t know about Wyatt’s recent problems with the law in Missouri, Arkansas, and Illinois, but if he did he would not have cared. Few frontier lawmen had clean records; the idea was that men who’d broken laws themselves would understand best how to prevent others from doing the same. Wyatt’s salary was $60 a month, plus another dollar or two for each arrest he made. That sounds more lucrative than it really was. Wichita deputies only arrested Texas drovers as a last resort. The drovers couldn’t spend their money from a cell.

New deputy Earp spent most of his time performing menial tasks. He functioned as the Wichita Animal Control Department, collecting dead animals from city streets. Deputy Earp enforced building codes, checking chimneys and repairing wooden slat sidewalks. He collected licensing fees, disguised as fines to gratify the town’s religious element, from saloonkeepers and whorehouse madams like his sister-in-law Bessie. Despite Wyatt later telling John Flood that he was “in charge of the mounted police in Wichita”—Wichita had no mounted police, unless the marshal or a deputy happened to be on horseback—he was a flunky. But he was a flunky with a badge, and that was a start. And, soon, Wyatt had his own reputation around town. When Texans had to be subdued but not arrested, he cooled them down with whacks on the head with the barrel of his gun. “Buffaloing” was a routine tactic for frontier lawmen, and Wyatt excelled.

In Wichita, Wyatt Earp was a very good lawman, and apparently an honest one. In December 1875 the Beacon praised him for arresting a drunk but not relieving his sodden prisoner of a $500 bankroll. Bessie, Sally, and James Earp no longer appeared in court to be fined; the only new stain on the collective Earp family record came in September 1875, when Morgan, apparently passing through town, was fined a dollar for an unspecified, obviously minor, offense. At some point Wyatt and Sally split up; an ambitious policeman could hardly remain with a prostitute common-law wife. Until April 1876, Wichita was well satisfied with Wyatt Earp as a deputy. Then Wyatt’s temper and loyalty to family abruptly ruined the good reputation he’d worked so hard to acquire.

It was time for another town election, and Bill Smith wanted to win back his old job as marshal from Mike Meagher. During the campaign, Smith charged that if Meagher was reelected, he’d hire Wyatt’s brothers to fill out the police force. A milder man would have ignored Smith—Meagher was a prohibitive favorite to win reelection—but that wasn’t Wyatt’s way. Wyatt cornered Smith and called on all the fighting skills he’d learned back in the Northwest railroad camps. Marshal Meagher had to pull his enraged deputy off a badly beaten Smith. The Beacon, previously so complimentary of Wyatt (even while continuing to misspell his name), expressed editorial wonder that he threw such a violent fit: “The remarks that Smith was said to have made in regard to the marshal sending for Erp’s brothers to put them on the police force furnished no just grounds for an attack, and upon ordinary occasions we doubt if Erp would have given them a second thought.” Town law was clear—violence was not tolerated, even by Wichita’s own policemen. Wyatt was fired and fined $30 for disturbing the peace. In a surprisingly mean-spirited parting shot, the council also ordered that a vagrancy act be carried out against now unemployed Wyatt if he didn’t leave town right away. The Beacon was kinder, noting, “It is but justice to Erp to say he has made an excellent officer, and hitherto his conduct has been unexceptionable.”

Wyatt was done in Wichita, but not in Kansas. One hundred and fifty miles to the west, another cow town had replaced Wichita as the main destination of Texas cattle drives. And where Wichita was a relatively peaceful place, Dodge City was anything but that. Founded in 1872 as a tiny tent community, Dodge exploded in size and population after the railroad expanded to pass through town, and the Kansas legislature moved the tick line west of Wichita. The Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railroad built stockyards in Dodge to facilitate cattle auctions and transferring animals into boxcars. In late 1875, Dodge City was officially incorporated, and town officials determined “stringent” law enforcement would be necessary to control the rowdy cowhands who began arriving in growing numbers. Cattle lost considerable weight on the drives from Texas to western Kansas, so many herds were driven to the area around Dodge and then grazed for months outside town before being driven in to market.

Marshal Larry Deger needed experienced lawmen to help maintain order in a place where, one regional newspaper declared, “the arm of the law is palsied and hangs powerless.” Thanks to Wyatt’s bad temper, one was available. Just days after losing his job in Wichita, Wyatt was hired in Dodge City. The reason he was fired in Wichita made him attractive to Marshal Deger in Dodge City. A man who’d assault a candidate for sheriff wouldn’t back down from Texas drovers. As in Wichita, Wyatt was a junior officer, an assistant city marshal hired to patrol the streets while his boss handled important decisions. At least a raise was involved; Wyatt made $75 a month compared to $60 in Wichita, with another dollar or two added as a bonus for each arrest he made. But essentially Wyatt had to perform the same job in a tougher town.

As envisioned by its leaders, Dodge City was essentially two distinct communities separated by Front Street, better known as the “Dead Line.” North of Front Street, rank-and-file citizens lived respectably, going about their daily business. Below the Dead Line, cowhands whooped it up in a predictable series of saloons, dance halls, and brothels, and camped across the Arkansas River. Dodge had a permanent population of about 1,200. Over the course of any year, as many as six thousand cowboys passed through. The odds were against the solid Dodge burghers (most were of German extraction) being constantly able to keep their distance from rowdy visitors.

The atmosphere on Front Street was usually more carnival-like than menacing. Town businessmen were pragmatic; the Texans might be behaviorally challenged, but their continued presence was Dodge City’s economic lifeline. So as far as the safety of city residents allowed, the Texans were indulged, even encouraged to have fun in the process of spending their money. One popular Dodge City saloon was even named The Alamo. Vendors sold snacks from trays all along Front Street, and, thanks to an ice house, drinks were served cold. Some of the saloons doubled as theaters and presented live music. Everybody in Dodge City, residents and Texas visitors alike, seemed to love dancing—the town’s papers (there were five) constantly reported on “social hops.” Except for town officers, no one was allowed to carry guns north of the Dead Line. All the saloons, dance halls, and hotels had prominent racks by their entrances. Texans were expected to leave their guns there, and reclaim them as they left town to return to their camps. Though there were always problems with hotheads and drunks, few of these occurred north of Front Street. In that sense, all parties involved knew their places.

But there was still antipathy between the Texans and the men hired in Dodge to keep them under control. Part of the fun for the Texans was seeing how far they could push things; the lawmen were under constant pressure to keep the visitors in line without discouraging them from coming back again. Town officers had to show restraint, but the Texans didn’t. It took more courage to buffalo drunken cowhands than it did to shoot them. The Texans could, and sometimes did, go for their guns. Two years after Wyatt Earp came to Dodge, Bat Masterson’s brother Ed was shot and killed there by an inebriated Texan he was trying to arrest. The Texans’ lives were rarely at risk. The lives of Dodge lawmen always were.

Wyatt approached his duties in Dodge City the same way that he had in Wichita. Big, strong, and self-confident, he bashed balky Texans across the head with the barrel of his gun frequently enough to earn a bad reputation among them. Wyatt later claimed that some of the Texas trail bosses offered a $1,000 reward to anyone who could “put [him] out of the way.” That’s unlikely, but it’s probable that enough Texans held grudges against Wyatt to keep him constantly alert. He certainly was ready to give up his post as soon as a greater opportunity presented itself. The ranks of Dodge officers were fluid. In part because of the constant pressure, in part because they were opportunists as opposed to career lawmen, marshals and their assistants came and went on a regular basis. At one time or another, Wyatt was joined on the job by three Masterson brothers (Jim, Ed, and Bat) and his own older brother Virgil. Wyatt wanted more from life than keeping law and order along Dodge’s Dead Line. In Wichita, becoming a deputy was Wyatt’s first step back toward respectability. In Dodge, the assistant marshal’s job was a stopgap until he found something better.

It didn’t take long. Just four months after he’d pinned on a Dodge assistant marshal’s badge, Wyatt resigned and moved to the gold mine town of Deadwood in the Dakota Territory. Earlier in 1876, Deadwood had become famous as the place where Wild Bill Hickok was killed during a card game. Wyatt went there to gamble, and, in the best tradition of his father, Nicholas, branch off into side business. All during the winter he sold firewood, and in the spring of 1877 he rode shotgun for a local stage line. Neither job was going to bring him any substantial wealth. Whatever Wyatt hoped would happen in Deadwood didn’t, and by early summer he drifted back to Dodge. One of the local papers noted, “Wyatt Earp, who was on our City police force last summer, is in town again. We hope he will accept a position on the force once more. He had a quiet way of taking the most desperate characters into custody which invariably gave one the impression that the city was able to enforce her mandates and preserve her dignity.”

As in Wichita, law enforcement in Dodge City was seasonal work. When herds arrived and Texans came to town, additional officers were added. By the time Wyatt returned to town in the summer of 1877, the town police force was probably already staffed to its limits. So Wyatt spent much of the summer playing cards in Dodge saloons. At some point, he saw his extended family for the first time in several years. Nicholas had decided to try his luck again in San Bernardino, and came through as part of a wagon train. Virgil was along, too, with his new common-law wife, Allie, a waitress he’d met in Nebraska. Virgil and Allie didn’t make it all the way to California. They dropped out of the caravan and settled for a while in Prescott, the capital of Arizona Territory.

Soon after the other Earps passed through Dodge, Wyatt found work as a bounty hunter. The railroad hired him to track two train robbers who were supposed to be in Texas. Wyatt trailed them there, following rumors that placed the pair in fort settlements in the western part of the state. He never caught up to the bandits, but in the community of Fort Griffin he first met the man whose name would soon be linked irrevocably with his.
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